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Title of Court

   The Court Leet and Court Baron of the 

     Town and Corporation of Newport

                 in the Barony of Cemais

	Date of formation

Date of Charter

Lord of the Manor

Title of Leader of the Court
	circa 1195

circa 1210; confirmed 1592

Mrs John Hawkesworth, Lady Marcher of Cemais

The Mayor


Offices and Officers of the Court

	Mayor

Steward of the Barony

Bailiff

Town Crier

Mayor’s Chaplain

Senior Alderman and 

         Foreman of the Jury

Mayor’s Secretary
	Peter Harwood

Jeremy George

John James

Robert Manson

Rev Robert Jones

Alderman Dillwyn Miles

Alderman Robin Evans


Contact

Dillwyn Miles

Hendre

9 St Anthony’s Way

Haverfordwest  SA61 1EL

Brief history

The borough of Newport in Pembrokeshire was established in the shadow of a castle built by William Martin (d. 1209) after he had been ejected from Nevern Castle by his father-in-law, Prince Rhys ap Gruffydd, in 1191.  William was the son of Robert FitzMartin, who had invaded the hundred of Cemais in north Pembrokeshire soon after 1100 and occupied the Welsh stronghold at Nevern. The town was in existence before 1198 as William Martin had granted a burgage ‘in Newport in Cemais’ to the Knights of St John of Jerusalem at Slebech by that date.

In about 1241 Nicholas Martin, lord of Cemais, set his seal to a charter confirming the liberties and customs granted to the town by his father, William Martin, some time before he died in 1216. In the charter Nicholas Martin decreed that the burgesses ‘ought to have a prepositus and a catchpole by consultation between me and them.’ The prepositus was known as reeve, or portreeve, until about 1500, after which he is described as mayor, and the catchpole as bailiff.

The Martins died out in 1326 and the lordship was neglected by their inheritors, the Lords Audley of Heleigh in Staffordshire, who were already Lords of Parliament.  When James, Lord Audley, was executed for treason in 1497, his lands were sequestered, but the title and a part of the estate were restored to his son who, in 1543, sold the barony of Cemais to William Owen of Henllys in the parish of Nevern. He and his son, George Owen, the Elizabethan historian of Pembrokeshire, had to face hostility when they began to exercise their manorial rights and in 1606 George Owen, complaining that he had lost more than £300 in rent and dues through the failure of successive mayors to collect them, filed a bill in the Council in Wales and the Marches against the burgesses for ‘certain irregularities in electing a Portreeve (now called a Mayor)’ so that the town was without a mayor for five years.

The Court Leet and View of Frankpledge was held before the Mayor twice a year, around Easter and at Michaelmas, and a ‘grand inquisition’ of up to nineteen jurors was selected by the mayor ‘to inquire for the king and the lord of the town’, and one of them was appointed Foreman. Officers were elected at the Michaelmas court.  The mayor is still appointed by the lord from a list of three burgesses presented by the aldermen and burgesses. Past mayors are aldermen for life. The bailiff was appointed by the mayor and was handed a pair of bolts, with rings, and a shackle on his appointment. He was also the pound-keeper. Two constables, or petty constables, were appointed and sworn.  The Court Baron, or Hundred Court, was ‘holden before the mayor every fifteen days’ and its normal business was the trial of pleas of debt, detinue, trespass and slander. The surviving records date from 1588. Perambulation of the boundaries of the barony was held every seven years: the last perambulation took place in 1888, but the custom was revived insofar as the borough was concerned in 1964.

The courts now merged as the Court Leet and Court Baron, are still held around Easter and Michaelmas. An adjourned court is held in November for the installation of the mayor, who is now the only mayor to be installed at the same time as the Lord Mayor of London, with whom he exchanges greetings.  A special court is held following the perambulation so that members of the public may see the court in action.

The Administration of Justice Act of 1977 confirmed the right of the Court to continue its functions, namely the taking of presentments with respect to matters of local concern and the management of the common lands within the borough of Newport.
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